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Lessons from the Auction Block for Buyers  and Sellers

In this article, we will discuss several practical steps that can 
help you to become a better bidder in an auction. These in-
clude:

 identifying the types of information you should gather before-
hand;

 applying various analytical techniques employed in merger or 
bid-rigging investigations to predict who might bid at what 
price levels; and

 making a careful review of the auction rules and considering 
their implications.

As background, consider what circumstances would lead a pro-
spective seller (or buyer) to use an auction, such as situations 
where the identity of the efficient price or allocation of goods is 
unknown (otherwise, the seller would simply use a posted price 
to sell its product), or the buyer seeks the lowest cost source of 
supply.1 Auctions and exchanges provide buyers and sellers with 
a process of price discovery and product allocation. Moreover, 
auctions are increasingly being used because the transaction costs 
of conducting them are declining and because more potential 
bidders can be drawn into them using the internet.

The principal elements of an auction are: 

1. the seller(s) and the items on the block, or the items the buyer 
wishes to purchase; 

2. the legal rules and structure of the auction, including the pow-
ers of the auctioneer; and

3. the buyer(s). 

In a procurement auction, the elements are essentially the same; 
but the buyer, rather than the seller, aligns with the auctioneer.

As a purchaser in a conventional auction or a seller in a procure-
ment auction, one must carefully value all desired items on the 
block. This includes taking into account any synergies that com-
binations of multiple items, which, if purchased or sold as a com-
bination, may offer the buyer or seller. Synergies, complementary 
or otherwise, among the auction lots are important whether they 
are being offered simultaneously or in sequence. Auction rules 
also play a role, and should be studied carefully. Indeed, if pos-
sible, one should try to participate in the rule-making process to 
develop rules that are favorable and protect one’s interests. Fi-
nally, in preparing for the auction, estimate the valuations other 
buyers (or sellers) might make and consider what their general 
approaches to a bidding strategy might be, based on their prior 
conduct and their current needs or capacity.2 One can use prior 
bids and other information to try to predict the behavior of com-
petitors to help determine one’s own bidding strategy. 

Principles from Antitrust Analysis 
Applicable to Bidding

Key Predictors of Pricing Behavior

In our approach to bid preparation, we ask the same questions 
and use the same framework the government uses to assess the 
merger of two firms which primarily compete in bidding mar-
kets. The government tries to assess how the merger of two sellers 
bidding for the same customers will affect market competition. 
It does this by analyzing bidding patterns and the relative close-
ness of other rivals’ offerings. These methods can show you how 
to gather and analyze data for an auction and provide you with 
the framework for developing your bidding strategy.

According to authors William L. Sippel, J.D. of Oppenheimer, 
Wolff & Donnelly, LLP and Joseph P. Cook, Ph.D., J.D. of NERA 
Economic Consulting, many businesses today must participate 
in procurement auctions to retain current clients, maintain old 
relationships or obtain new business. Thus, sales and marketing 
managers now must venture out of more traditional arenas to op-
erate in these unfamiliar markets. Participants will make or lose 
money depending on their skills as bidders and understanding of 
pricing behavior, auction rules and their competitive position. The 
authors show how firms can improve performance by combining 
auction theory with antitrust economics tools traditionally used 
to analyze mergers in bidding markets. For more information you 
can email Bill Sippel at the University of Minnesota Carlson School 
of Management, where he also serves as an adjunct professor. 
His email is: b-bsippel@comcast.net. Joe Cook can be reached 
at NERA by writing: Joseph.cook@nera.com.
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Not surprisingly, in markets where companies have a roughly 
equal chance of securing business on a going-forward basis, 
rather than relying heavily on past sales or market shares, the 
government may assign each bidder an equal share.3 Each firm’s 
share is then equal to 1/n, where “n” is the number of bidders in 
the market. Thus, in a market with five companies, each would 
be assigned 20 percent of the market. Should there be a merger, 
then a change from five firms to four would leave each partici-
pant with a 25 percent share, rather than one firm receiving a 
share of 40 percent. 

The government may presume coordination and anticompetitive 
effects in bidding markets when the number of firms goes from 
four to three or from three to two. In markets with relatively few 
participants (all else being equal), a greater potential exists for 
firms to coordinate tacitly, to detect deviation and to punish a 
rival. Thus, opponents can recognize and exploit their interde-
pendent profit functions.4

This presumption is only that — a presumption. The government 
has to support factually a finding that the number of bidders in 
a market will significantly affect price. Here are the questions of 
interest to the government (and auction participants):

 According to past history, is the bid price to this customer (or 
in general) influenced by the number of participants?

 Does the size of the bid influence the potential number of bid-
ders? Do large solicitations draw more or fewer participants? 

 Does the magnitude of the potential gross margin affect the 
number of possible bidders?

 Does the product mix dictate the size of the bidding pool? If 
so, then which elements attract or repel participants?

 What has been the effect on prices of a new bidder entering 
the market or another one withdrawing?

 Does the customer invite a minimum number of bids before 
it will open a solicitation for bid? How many proposals has 
it sent out? How has it informed potential participants (by 
newspaper or privately)?

A prospective bidder should always attempt to anticipate the num-
ber and identities of potential rivals. The questions above will 
help in this regard, but more can be done. For example, imagine 
you are about to enter a procurement auction as a prospective 
seller. You can ask questions, such as: “How many people have 
you solicited?” or “How many people have picked up the solici-
tation papers?” 

You might tell the customer that if you are to prepare a bid, you 
need to know the number of likely participants and the num-
ber who have participated in the past. You might bargain with 
the customer to gain valuable information your rivals may not 
have because they did not ask for it. You can try to assemble the 
information from public sources. You may have a subcontractor 
or a common supplier who services the other bidders; they may 
be able to share information about the number of persons from 
whom they have received a request for products or services. Even 
if you cannot identify the bidders, you may be able to tell how 
many are likely to participate.

Thus, when preparing to bid in an auction, do not rely solely 
upon your market share, or that of other rivals, to predict your 
likelihood of success. Instead, try to learn as much as you can 
about rivals and their level of competitiveness. And, if you are 
preparing to sell in a conventional auction — or buy in a pro-
curement auction — be attentive to the bidders and mindful of 
the potential for collusive or interdependent activity. 

Other Significant Factors in Bidding Markets

Beyond counting the number of players in the market, the gov-
ernment looks at other facts and patterns of behavior of partici-
pants. And, you should too. Knowledge of a rival’s capacity, costs 
at different levels of operation, and other constraints can all be 
considered in your bidding strategy. These are factors the gov-
ernment considers when judging whether some of the remaining 
rivals could independently and profitably be effective in disciplin-
ing a market, even if a few competitors sought to collude. 

Competition in markets where identifiable participants always bid 
for a particular customer differs dramatically from those where 
the lineup of bidders constantly changes. Firms establish and 
defend reputations built during repeated interactions, and this 
can have important consequences for both the bidding behaviors 
and the auction outcomes. The same can be true for the reputa-
tions of auctioneers. Looking at how much parties have interacted 
with one another and with a particular customer or its market 
mechanism can help you prepare for an auction.

To guide your bidding strategy, try to answer these questions:

 Which potential supplier(s) has the lowest costs? In bid-
ding markets, firms with low costs in at least one of the related 
markets can threaten to punish a defector through a cooperative 
strategy. High cost firms cannot credibly threaten rivals without 
meting out a greater punishment on themselves.

 Does knowing the likelihood that one firm is entering an 
auction tell you anything about the likelihood that someone 
else may bid or how many others are expected to participate? 

Lessons from the Auction Block for Buyers  and Sellers
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That is, do Companies A and B bid together more frequently 
than, say, Companies A and C? Or, would knowing that Com-
pany A is participating tell us that Company C is not likely to do 
the same? The decision to bid is a process of self-selection, and 
involves a commitment of resources as well as an assessment of 
the probabilities of success. Recognizing clustering patterns of 
bidders in previous auctions can help us predict the number of 
participants, even if we do not fully understand the underlying 
reasons for the behavior.

 Are there any potential bidders who would cause you to 
lower prices — and others who would not? The government 
looks at bidding patterns to see whether Firms A and B have lower 
prices when bidding simultaneously in an auction than when they 
are not bidding at the same time in another.

 Are there observable factors that correlate with the partici-
pation of a particular bidder? These might include the size of 
the project, a bidder’s excess capacity, its cost structure relative 
to others, terms for delivery and geographic proximity to, and 
history of, past dealings with the customer. 

These same factors may not only help predict the likelihood of a 
particular bidder participating, but may also provide an indica-
tion of the aggressiveness with which the firm might bid. 

Imagine three competing bidders, A, B, and C, vying for a par-
ticular customer. Each is located at a different distance from the 
customer. Let us also assume that delivery costs are more or less 
fixed at $10 per ton per mile for each participant. If bidder A is 
only five miles away, while B and C are nine and 12 miles away, 
respectively, we might form some expectations about A’s bidding 
behavior based on this cost component. Bidder A is not willing 
to accept less than $50 (over other costs); however, Bidder A can 
effectively raise its bid to just under the cost of the next nearest 
bidder. In this case: $90 for bidder B. 

The greater the distance between the firm and the customer, the 
higher will be the transportation costs. All else being equal, the 
closer bidders will be able to offer the customer lower prices. This 
relationship is displayed in Figure 1. 

 Are there qualitative differences between the products 
or services offered by bidders? For example, does one offer 
the “Cadillac” and the other a “Ford?” When the products 
or services are viewed similarly by the customer, then the price 
differences between these rivals may need only be small for the 
customer to switch. However, the purchaser may require a larger 
discount to switch to a product or service viewed as lower quality 
or with less attractive features. 

 Are there instances where the customer received a lower 
price, but nevertheless picked the higher priced product? 
Econometric models, generally referred to as hedonic models, 
can be used extract the value of distinct features from sales 
data, including those at auction. Implied price premiums for a 
product’s individual attributes can be used for various purposes, 
including assisting prospective auction participants. Where the 
appropriate market and engineering data may not be available, 
consumer surveys can be used to supplement and extract these 
components of value.

In addition, if differences exist between a bidder’s product and 
the one the buyer has solicited, will the bidder substantially lower 
price, or offer a more valuable product exceeding the specifica-
tion with a slight discount? How the customer reacts may tell you 
about the preferences for different product attributes and how to 
price them implicitly for that customer.

 How much can incumbents expect protection from the 
lower bids of competitors based on customer switching costs? 
In some bidding markets, a history of dealing with a particular 
customer can be an important factor in the purchase decision. 
Or, during a bidding process, a bidder may have to evaluate how 
effective its current proposal is. How much of an improvement 
does a rival bidder need to offer before the customer will switch? 
Or, how much profit can the incumbent keep in its bid without 
causing the customer to switch?5 

 Are there any companies who regularly bid and always lose? 
Limiting the number of players you have to consider as relevant 
helps you focus on who matters most to you. 

In a merger analysis, answers to these questions can give the gov-
ernment a sense of how much “gravitational pull” the merging 
bodies have on each other, irrespective of other bidders. In this 
approach, you can focus more on those bidders who appear to 
be most important.

You can use a similar analysis to get a sense of your rivals’ current 
activities and how they might involve the assets on the auction 
block: their costs, their past bidding behaviors, future auctions 
in which they might have an interest, etc.6 

Understanding more about the competition you face can help 
make you a better bidder. But, you still need to know more — you 
need to know the auction rules.

Figure 1: Illustrative relationship between transportation costs and 
prospective sellers’ minimum willingness to accept.
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Figure 1:  Illustrative relationship between transportation costs and prospective sellers’ 
minimum willingness to accept. 
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“Auction Rules” Rule: It’s Not Only How You 
Play the Game, But What Game You Play
Your bidding strategy depends on the auction rules. These are a 
collection of procedures to be followed: requirements and defi-
nitions. The auction rules typically include a definition of the 
goods for sale (or specifications for purchases) and any accom-
panying rights or obligations of the seller and the buyer. They 
also include the procedures a prospective bidder must follow to 
qualify to participate in the auction, the methods for submitting 
improving bids, the evaluation and acceptance of bids, and the 
disclosure of information.

Here are some important auction rules and related issues to be 
aware of as you prepare for an auction:

 Qualification: Do bidders 
need to be pre-qualified, or can 
anyone bid? As a prospective 
seller in a procurement auc-
tion, prequalification can be 
to your advantage because it 
can reduce the number of bid-
ders against which you have to 
compete. The same applies to a 
prospective buyer in a conven-
tional auction. Having signifi-
cant qualification criteria may 
result in bidders having similar 
costs, or at least culling out less serious bids.

Sometimes prequalification criteria are not established by the 
customer, but rather by a third party — e.g., the government or 
a downstream customer. If possible, you should become active in 
the process of setting these criteria. If you are on the competing 
side of the market, such criteria can be used to exclude you. If you 
are on the thin side (selling in a conventional auction or buying 
in a procurement auction) such criteria may limit the number of 
bidders, so that competition — and your expected benefit from 
the process — is reduced. 

 Reserve: Do the procurement auction rules obligate the buyer 
to purchase, or do they simply create an option to buy? Auctions 
are often conducted with reserves, which are useful tools, par-
ticularly when there is a momentary lapse in demand or when 
activity by a bidding ring is suspected or possible. 

 Price Treaties, Auctions and Hybrid Processes: In the strict-
est sense, auctions are objective market processes that leave no 
room for negotiation. The goods on the block are fully defined 
and described, and the only term to be decided is generally the 
price. However, occasionally — as in procurement auctions — the 
“winner” merely secures the right to negotiate further with the 
customer. In such cases, the parties have formed more of a price 
treaty than a contract, which is an important difference. The 
obligations that follow from the auction, and the binding or non-
binding nature of these obligations, is crucial to understanding 
the process and making bids you are comfortable with. 

If you are wary of participating without an objective, transpar-
ent and binding outcome, you should consider working with the 
organizer to change the rules. You also might make it clear that 

you prioritize your participation in auctions by focusing on those 
which best suit your needs. Finally, if you do participate even af-
ter failing to change the rules, then you may need to adjust your 
bid and/or post-auction behavior to improve your performance. 
For example, you might offer a discount tied to the percentage 
of the offering firm’s business that you win. (You may need to 
see an antitrust lawyer to discuss Robinson-Patman and exclu-
sive dealing issues).

 Information: What can you learn before and after the auction 
(or from similar ones)? A lot, if you answer the right questions. 
If you will be bidding in real time, or in discrete stages, will all 
the bids be announced or only the highest one? Will you know 
the identities of the bidders in advance? In a procurement auc-

tion, will the customer tell 
you from whom it is soliciting 
bids? Will the seller announce 
its current terms or a reserva-
tion value? Such information 
can be useful in determining 
whether to participate and to 
identify serious bidders.

 Repetition and Reputa-
tion: Repeated interactions 
can provide important infor-
mation about both the other 
auction participants and how 

the rules are implemented. How often is the game repeated with 
the same set of players? Keep in mind that bids reveal informa-
tion helpful not only to you, but also to others who may learn 
the characteristics of your demand (if you are a buyer) or your 
cost (if you are a seller). 

Moreover your actions in an auction may become more widely 
known. Your offer to sell at a low price in one forum can be re-
vealed by your competitors to other buyers in subsequent auc-
tions. Thus, you may win one contract, but then find that your 
other customers will also clamor for price reductions. Your rivals 
may even be able to persuade some unhappy purchaser to deal 
with them in the future.7

 Sequential Auctions: The sequential nature of an auction is 
important. So called “afternoon effects,” where the prices for close 
substitutes (say, bottles of wine of a certain vintage), fall through-
out the day, illustrate how time and bidding order can influence 
outcomes.8 The “afternoon effect” may be the result of higher val-
ued buyers competing first for their requirements. As the auction 
proceeds, they obtain their desired items and cease to bid. The 
reverse of this, what we can refer to as a “morning effect,” occurs 
when the prices rise over time. It may be associated with buy-
ers making a strategic demand reduction to discover something 
about the preferences of competitors before bidding seriously or, 
perhaps, trying to take advantage of an afternoon effect.

 Multiple-Item Auctions and the Exposure Problem: Typi-
cally auctions are discussed in the context of a single item, or at 
least where the demand of each bidder is fairly limited. But, of 
course, some bidders may have an interest in multiple items whose 
value may be interdependent. For example, consider the stand-
alone values of right and left shoes as contrasted with the value 

As a prospective seller in a procurement 
auction, prequalification can be to your 
advantage because it can reduce the 
number of bidders against which you 
have to compete.
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of the pair. Such situations give rise to what has been called the 
“exposure problem” in auctions. 

The “exposure” problem generally refers to the risk bidders take in 
aggregating packages from the individual items being offered in 
an auction; i.e., that they will be unable to acquire the complete 
package after having bid on the individual pieces. For example, 
suppose a bidder views three assets for sale whose synergistic value 
when combined would equal twice the sum of their “stand-alone” 
values. If she places bids based in part on the synergistic value 
and is outbid on one item, she may fail both to get her preferred 
package and end up paying more for the two pieces she does ac-
quire than they are worth to her. 

Let’s assume that individually each of the three items is worth 
$100 to Bidder 1; but, when all three are combined, the resulting 
package has a value of $600 to her. Further, suppose that Bidder 
1 has submitted bids on each individual asset of $125. At prices 
of $125 each, she would receive a surplus of $225 if she acquired 
the complete package. 

Now, suppose that another bid-
der, Bidder 2, values one of those 
assets at as much as $600, perhaps 
in connection with some other 
package. If Bidder 2 should place 
a bid of $550 on that asset, he 
would make it impossible for Bid-
der 1 to receive any surplus value 
from the package given her other 
bids. In fact, were the auction to 
end at this point, Bidder 1 would 
suffer a loss of $25 on each of her 
remaining bids. If she were to outbid Bidder 2 and complete her 
three-asset package, she would have to spend at least $801 to 
obtain a package worth only $600 to her. Bidder 1 then, in this 
illustration, faces an exposure problem. 

The problem results from the inability of participants to place 
bids conditional on obtaining a set of assets. Combinatorial auc-
tion design — procedures and software that enable bidding for 
sets of items — is in its early stage of development. Nevertheless, 
preliminary evidence from both the field and the laboratory is en-
couraging. It suggests that properly implementing a combinatorial 
auction can improve the outcome for both buyer and seller.

 Collusion: Do the auction rules facilitate or thwart collusion, 
and is collusion more of a problem in an open or a sealed-bid 
format? There are tradeoffs in determining whether the auction 
should be open or closed. Open formats allow for better market 
discovery and can lead to more efficient outcomes. However, they 
also can facilitate collusive bidding schemes. 

In a sealed-bid auction collusion is generally more difficult because 
bidders cannot observe each other’s behavior. Collusion generally 
requires that the colluding parties be able to reach an agreement, 
monitor each other’s behavior to detect cheating, and somehow 
punish cheaters when they are identified. An open auction allows 
bidders to detect cheaters and punish them publicly. 

As an example, at least one bidder in the U.S. Federal Commu-
nications Commission’s spectrum auctions has admitted to the 
use of “trailing digits” (that is, using the last few digits in a bid to 
encode a signal to others). The bidder added that a “multitude” 
of other bidders had engaged in similar behavior.9 

 Joint Bidding: In some circumstances it may make sense for 
two or more parties to bid together. There may be pro-competi-
tive and efficiency-enhancing reasons for letting them do so. For 
example, two participants who may not be individually qualified 
may qualify together as a very competitive bidding consortium. 
For example, the customer may want a package of products A, 
B, C and D, and does not want to purchase them separately 
through different vendors. Bidder 1 makes products A, B and 
C, but not D, and Bidder 2 makes products B, C and D. Bidder 
1 and 2 form a consortium; alternatively Bidder 1 could subcon-
tract with Bidder 2 to purchase item D, and make an offer to 
Bidder 2 to sell item A. 

For these kinds of partnerships, 
you must also determine whether 
auction rules permit subcontract-
ing or joint bidding. Also, if you 
are participating in a procure-
ment auction, you may be able to 
ask your suppliers for assistance. 
Suppliers are often willing to 
make a one-time price concession 
to assist a customer with getting 
a large order. Such an alliance 
can enhance your strength as a 
bidder. 

Some Final Thoughts
It’s tough out there in bidding markets. The tools of antitrust 
and auction theory can help you find your way and minimize 
the risk of getting lost and taking losses. 

Successful bidding requires that you understand the current situ-
ation and how it affects you in real time, particularly when par-
ticipating in electronic auctions. You should know both about 
the auction market and the supporting markets outside of the 
auction. You should be updating your costs to avoid discovering 
that you just won the bid but will produce a product at a loss 
because your input costs just increased. You should also be sure 
to coordinate with all the departments that have input into your 
bidding process. 

Your earliest steps should include involving yourself in the devel-
opment of the auction process itself. Compare alternative mar-
ket institutions before you commit — as you would any other 
related opportunity. 

Incumbents may feel reluctant to enter into auctions, but the 
move towards these markets may be inevitable. So, be prepared. 
You should also assess how you can make a winning bid, even 
if your price is higher. Make sure the prospective buyer under-
stands any features that make your product unique. If you are 
the incumbent, you may wish to initiate a customer satisfaction 
survey before the auction. The results may help to convince a pro-

You should be updating your costs 
to avoid discovering that you just 
won the bid but will produce a 
product at a loss because your 
input costs just increased. 



The Journal of Professional Pricing 33Third Quarter 2007

spective buyer in a procurement auction that you have a quality 
advantage that has to be factored into the process. 
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